**RECEIVED** 

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS **04-17-2015**TRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff- Respondent **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN** 

VS.

Appeal No. 2016AP002201

Case No. 2012CF006098

LARRY L. GARNER,

Defendant- Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HON. DAVID L. BOROWSKI, PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HON. DAVID L. BOROWSKI, PRESIDING

**BRIEF OF DEFENDANT- APPELLANT** 

Esther Cohen Lee Attorney for Defendant- Appellant State Bar No. 1002354

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Q. Was the defendant's constitutional right to confrontation violated when the Circuit Court ruled, over objection, that the testimony of a witness who had testified at defendant's first trial could be read to the jury at the second trial even though the witness had not been properly held to be unavailable to testify at the second trial?
  - A. The Circuit Court answered no
- 2. Q. Should the Circuit Court not have allowed the state to file the Amended Information because it had not first obtained the consent of the Court to file it, and because the evidence had not supported the new charge?
  - A. The Circuit Court answered no.
- 3. Q. Was the defendant's sentence of a total of 40 years based on inaccurate information regarding his role in the shooting of the victim and, therefore, is he entitled to be resentenced?
  - A. The Circuit Court answered no.

#### STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

It is requested that this appeal be published and oral arguments be heard because the opinion in this case would clarify existing legal rules and because it would decide Issues of substantial and continuing public interest.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE- FACTUAL

# A. The Robbery of Joseph G. on December 17, 2012 at 2673 N. 35<sup>th</sup> Street

On December 17, 2012, Joseph G. left work at 12:30 a.m. on December 17, 2012, and had taken a bus to his brother-in-law's house. When he got off the bus, he was walking down the sidewalk in the area of 2673 N. 35<sup>th</sup> Street in Milwaukee and talking on his cell phone when a white suburban drove past him. (R71, p. 41). There were three men in the vehicle and it made a U-turn and returned to his location.

The man sitting in the back seat jumped out of the vehicle, Joseph G. said, and pointed a silver, 9 millimeter semi-automatic gun at him. (R71, pp. 45-45). The man asked him to give him money but when Joseph G. told him that he did not have any, the man took his cell phone. (R71, p. 45). The man in the front passenger seat also had a gun, he said. (R71, p. 43). The cell phone was a Samsung black, touch screen phone. (R71, p. 40).

The man who had jumped out of the vehicle then jumped back into it, he said, and the three men left. When he continued walking and turned the corner, he saw some officers and told them what had happened. (R71, p. 47). He told the officers that the man who had jumped out of the vehicle and who had taken the phone was 5'5" tall and weighed about 130-140 pounds. He also said that he was about 19-20 years old, clean shaven, with a light complexion. (R71, p. 48).

However, Joseph G. also testified that he himself was African- American, 40 years old, and that he was about 5'4" tall. He also said that he had a dark complexion and that the man who had jumped out of the vehicle actually had a darker complexion than him. (R71, p. 61). He also said that that man had been wearing a dark-hooded sweatshirt with a hood over his head. (R71, p. 49). Since the man had been wearing a hood, Joseph G. said, he had not been able to identify him. (R71, p. 51).

### B. The Robbery of Tycer L. on December 17, 2012 at 2920 W. Lisbon Ave.

Tycer L. testified that on December 17, 2012, at 2:00 a.m., he was walking with his fiance' and her cousin, Kim, to a gas station on Lisbon Ave. (R71, p. 71). As they were walking, he said, a white blazer style truck drove past them, and someone yelled out, "Tyson, what's up fam.?" (R71, p. 72). Tycer L. said that the man who had called out to him was someone he knew as "D". The vehicle then pulled over and three men got out of it. (R71, p. 74).

One of the men who had gotten out was a tall, light-skinned man with a tattoo on his neck, he said. (R71, p. 75). When these men got out of the vehicle, Tycer L. said that he started to walk away. As he did so, he said, the tall man with the tattoo pulled out a gun and said, "you run, I push your shit back." (R71, p. 76). Tycer L. said that when he turned around, he noticed that the gun was a .32 caliber, crome and silver gun. (R71, p.76). He said that he told the man that he did not have anything. Then the man took \$61 from him, along with his cell phone and his identification card. (R71, 77).

Tycer L. described the man who had pulled out the gun as being African-American, about 6' tall, 26-27 years old, and slim, weighing about 190-210 pounds. (R71, p. 77). He said that the man had on a black hoodie and dark jeans. Besides the tattoo, he said, the man had a light complexion and was wearing a braid in his hair. (R71, p. 77). That was the man who had taken the items from him, he said. (R71, p.78). He said that he did not know him. (R71, p. 75). The second man, he said, was also African-American, about 5'10" tall, heavy set, bald, and with a dark complexion. He said that he did not know him either. (R71, p. 78).

The third man was the man he knew as "D". He said that "D" had taken Kim's purse, saying, "get her shit from her", as he did so. (R71, p. 78). As all of this was happening, Tycer L. said, his fiance' ran up the street and yelled at the man to "give my baby back her shit." One of

the men, he said, yelled, "shoot that bitch, man, kill that bitch." The three men then returned to their vehicle and left. (R71, p. 79).

At that point, Tycer L. said, he saw some officers driving down the street and waved them over. The police showed him three photo arrays and he identified "D" as being in one of the photos. (R71, p. 90). "D" had been seated in the rear passenger seat, he said, and he had not been the one who had the gun. (R71, p. 92). The man he knew as "D" was identified by the police as being John Eggars, a co-defendant in this case. (R71, p. 95). He also said that he could not identify any of the other men shown in the photos. (R71, p. 83).

# C. The Shooting of Ronald C. on December 17, 2012 at 1706 N. 40<sup>th</sup> Street

The co-defendant, John Eggars, testified at the trial of the defendant. He said that he knew the defendant because he used to go to 3610 W. Galena Street in Milwaukee to drink and smoke marijuana with him. (R74, p. 7). Eggars said he was known as "Booster Man" because he used to steal goods from stores and then sell them. (R74, p. 8). He said that he was 5'11" tall and weighed about 200 pounds. He said the knew Ronald C. because he used to give him rides and would also smoke crack cocaine with him. (R74, p. 9).

During the night of December 16-17, 2012, he said, he drove his girlfriend's white SUV to 3610 W. Galena Street to smoke marijuana. He said he was very intoxicated. He said that the defendant, co-defendant, Jeronne Brown, and co-defendant Vanetta C. Gholson-Wells (hereafter referred to as Wells) were present at the house, along with Renee Garner, who is the defendant's sister, and numerous children. (R74, p. 11). After he had smoked for awhile, he said, the defendant and Brown asked him to give them a ride to the store. Eggars said that he agreed to give them a ride to the gas station so they could buy cigarettes and blunts. (R74, p. 14).

After they had left the gas station, he said, he saw a man on the corner and Brown told him to pull over because he wanted to "grab something" from someone. When Eggars pulled over, he said, Brown jumped out of the vehicle and went around the corner. When he ran back to the vehicle, he said, Brown said, "we can go now, I got my phone." (R74, p. 15). Eggars insisted that he had not seen anything happen.

They then drove back to 3610 W. Galena Street and smoked more marijuana. (R74, p. 21). Then, he said, Brown and the defendant called him into the kitchen and Brown showed him a silver gun. (R74, p. 21). After about twenty minutes, he said, they told Eggars they wanted to buy more marijuana so he told them that his brother-in-law would sell them some. However, Eggars said, he felt that he was too intoxicated to drive so Wells agreed to drive them . (R74, p. 27).

The brother-in –law was not home but on the way back, as they were on 29<sup>th</sup> and Lisbon Street, he said, Brown told Wells to pull over. When she did so, Eggars said, the defendant and Brown got out of the vehicle and approached a man he knew as Tycer L. (R74, p. 30). Brown had a gun on him, he said. He said that he knew Tycer because he used to smoke crack cocaine with him. (R74, p. 36).

There were several other people there and when a commotion began, Eggars said he got out of the vehicle too. When he saw the crowd of people on the sidewalk, they all had their hands up so Eggars believed that Brown had been pointing his gun at them and robbing them. (R74, p. 33). Eggars said he approached Tycer L. and asked him for his money but Tycer told him that he only had \$6.00, which he gave him. (R74, p. 32). Eggars said that the defendant took a purse from one of the women. (R74, p. 34). After that, he said, all three men got back into the vehicle and left.

As they were driving back to W. Galena Street, Eggars said, he saw the victim, Ronald C., who he knew. Eggars said that Ronald C. recognized him and waived down the vehicle. Eggars told Wells, who was still driving, to pull over to pick the man up. (R74, p. 47). Once she pulled over, Ronald C. got into the back seat of the vehicle and asked them if they could give him a ride to 50<sup>th</sup> and Lisbon. (R74, p. 38).

Eggars told him that they were not going that way, Ronald C. said, "All right, bro" and he started to get out of the car. However, Brown grabbed him to prevent him from leaving, and at that point, Eggars told Brown, "What the fuck you doing, let him go, that's my guy, let him go." (R74, p. 38).

Since the rear door was locked at that point, Eggars told Wells to "pop the lock, let him out." Someone then popped the lock and Ronald C. opened the door and got out. According to Eggars, Ronald C. then walked to the back of the vehicle. (R74, p. 39). When Ronald C. walked to the back of the vehicle, Eggars said, the defendant leaned out of the the vehicle and said, "fuck this shit." At that moment, Eggars said, the defendant pulled out a gun and shot Ronald C. (R74, p. 40). The defendant was then about eight feet from the victim, Eggars said. (R74, p. 41).

According to Eggars, Wells then drove down an alley and parked behind a house, running into a trash can. Eggars got into the driver's seat and drove the vehicle to a gas station on Vliet Street. At that point, Eggars said, he did not know that Ronald C. had been shot. (R74, p. 43). Wells, the defendant and Eggars went into the gas station, which a security camera verified. It was then 4:45 a.m. (R74, p. 44).

#### D. The Death of the Victim, Ronald L.

When the police arrived at 1706 N. 40<sup>th</sup> Street on December 17, 2012, they found the victim lying in the middle of N. 40<sup>th</sup> Street, with a single gunshot wound to his left shoulder.

The officers determined that he was dead. (R72, p. 83). The police found a .22 caliber casing. (R72, p. 83).

The medical examiner found a bullet inside the victim which had gone through his left lung and had lodged against his chest wall. (R76, p. 25). The cause of death, he said, was a gunshot wound to the back. (R76, p. 27).

#### E. The Problems with the Testimony of John Eggars

Even though John Eggars had originally been charged as a co-defendant with the defendant with Felony Murder in regard to the death of Ronald C., he was later also charged with two counts of Armed Robbery, PTAC, in regard to both Tycer L. and Joseph G. (R74, p. 47). He testified at the trial that a plea bargain agreement had been made with him in exchange for his testimony. He said he had been allowed to plead guilty only to Attempted Armed Robbery, in relation to Tycer L., in full satisfaction of the Felony Murder and the other Armed Robbery charge. (R74, p. 47).

As part of the plea bargain, he said, he agreed to testify truthfully at the defendant's trial. He was told that the plea bargain included a recommendation by the state of a sentence of 10 years of initial confinement, with no recommendation as to the amount of the extended supervision.

Eggars had entered his plea of guilty to Attempted Armed Robbery, a Class C felony, on August 14, 2013, eight months before he testified at the trial of the defendant. At that time, the state advised the Court that Tycer L. was in jail himself, charged with Armed Robbery, and that Eggars would be a key witness at the trial of the defendant. The state also told the Court that it would "greatly appreciate" the testimony of Eggars at that trial. The state then indicated that it would recommend a sentence of 10 years of initial confinement with no recommendation as to

the extended supervision. The Court accepted Eggars' plea of guilty and ordered a presentence report.

At the time of Eggars' testimony at the defendant's trial on April 10, 2014, his presentence report had been completed. During the middle of Eggars' testimony, the Court, outside the presence of the jury, reported that it had read Eggars' presentence report and that it contained an important statement that was inconsistent with Eggars' trial testimony. The Court said that Eggars had told the agent that, "Jerrone Brown grabbed Ronald C. And as Mr. C was exiting, a shot fired by *Jerrone Brown*." (R74, p. 6). The next day, the agent testified at the defendant's trial that that was what Eggars had told her. (R77, p. 45).

In the end, Eggars was sentenced on June 6, 2014, after the defendant's trial had been completed and one day after the defendant had been sentenced. The Court noted that it believed Eggars had testified truthfully for the most part and that he had helped convict the defendant. The Court sentenced him to 15 years, with only 9 years of initial confinement and 6 years of extended supervision.

#### F. The Testimony of Vanetta C. Gholson-Wells

At the first trial in this matter, Vanetta C. Gholson-Wells testified. When she did not appear to testify at the second trial, her testimony from the first trial, for reasons that will be explained, was read in full to the jury in the second trial. In her testimony that was read to the jury at the second trial, she said that she used to date the defendant's brother, James, and that James, the defendant and their sister, Renee Garner, lived at 3610 W. Galena Street. (R76, p. 43). At the time of this incident, she said, she also lived there. She said that the defendant only stayed there on and off. (R76, pp. 43-44). She said that Jerrone Brown was then Renee's boyfriend and that he lived there too. (R76, p. 45).

Wells said that on December 17, 2012, at about midnight- 1:00 a.m., Eggars went over to their house on Galena Street. At that time, she said, the defendant, Brown, Latrice Jenkins, Renee, and their grandmother, Florence, were there. After the defendant arrived, he, Brown and Eggars left the house and were gone about 30-45 minutes. (R76, p. 52). When they returned, she said, they only stayed a few minutes and then left again. When they returned this second time, she said, they had cigarettes and blunts and Eggars had a woman's purse. (R76, p. 53).

Wells said that she asked Eggars to take her to her grandmother's house so that she could get some food there. She said that since Eggars appeared to be intoxicated, she asked him if she could drive his vehicle and he agreed. (R76, p. 55). The vehicle was white. When she left the house in that vehicle, she said, Eggars, the defendant, and Brown went with her, with Eggars sitting in the front passenger seat, the defendant behind him, and Brown behind her. (R76, p. 56).

As they were driving, Eggars saw a man, Ronald C., walking down the street and Eggars told Wells to pull over. When they pulled over, Ronald C. got into the vehicle, sitting where Brown had been sitting, as Brown moved over to the middle seat in the back. (R76, p. 58). She said that Eggars asked him where he was going and Ronald C. said he was going to the Pick and Save on Lisbon.

Eggars asked him if he had any money and Ronald C. said, "I got nothing." (R76, p. 58). At that point, she said, Brown grabbed him and said, as he went through his pockets, "you got something, bitch ass, you got something." But Ronald C. said, "no, no, I'm telling you, I don't have nothing." (R76, p.59).

Ronald C. then tried to get out of the car but as he was jumping out of the car, Wells said, the defendant shot him. (R76, p. 59). Although she was driving at the time, she said, she saw

this happen in the rear view mirror. She said that she saw, out of the corner of her eye, that the defendant reached over and she heard a gunshot. (R76, pp. 59-60). The defendant had the gun, she said. Brown told her to keep driving, she said, so she drove back to their house on W. Galena Street. (R776 p 61). She cut through an alley and hit a garbage can. They all went into the house and a short time later, she walked to the gas station on Vliet with the defendant and Eggars. (R76, p. 63).

### G. The Problems with Vanetta C. Gholson-Wells and her Testimony

Besides the fact that Wells had not actually testified at the second trial, there were numerous problems with Wells' testimony, even when she had testified at the first trial. First, she admitted that she had been interviewed by the police five times and that during the first four interviews, she had insisted that it had been Brown who had shot Ronald C., not the defendant. (R76, pp. 65, 72, 74). The last of those interviews was in February, 2013.

However, she said, on May 8, 2013, she had been in court regarding her own charge in this matter, Harboring or Aiding a felon. She appeared there with her attorney and Assistant District Attorney, Mark Williams. Mr. Williams told her that he did not believe that she had been cooperative and that if she did not cooperate, he would charge her with Felony Murder. (R76, pp. 88-89).

Wells had a two year old son as well as two other children who did not live with her, she said, and when she considered what would happen to them if she went to prison for Felony Murder, she changed her mind and decided to say that it had been the defendant who had shot Ronald C., and not Brown. (R76, p. 89; R77, p.98). Therefore, on May 10, 2013, she gave a statement to the police and told them it had been the defendant who had shot Ronald C., not Brown. (R76, p. 80).

Nicole Martin, Wells' mother, testified for the defense at the trial. She said that on December 18 or 19, 2012, Wells called her on the telephone and told her that she thought Brown had shot someone. (R77, p. 65). Martin told the police what Wells had told her. (R77, p. 67). A few days later, she said, she took Wells to the police station to talk to the police about the incident. (R77, p. 77).

The second problem with Wells' testimony is that she was in jail at the time of her testimony at the first trial. She had pled guilty on August 29, 2013 to Harboring or Aiding a felon and in exchange for her testimony against the defendant, the state said it would recommend that she should receive probation. After she had pled guilty, she was released on bail. She was then four months pregnant. (R76, p. 67).

By the time of the defendant's first trial, Wells had violated the conditions of her bail and she had been taken into custody. When she testified at the defendant's first trial on November 6, 2013, she was in custody and she was still pregnant. (R77, p. 67). She said that she was aware that the Court would be sentencing her for her plea of guilty and she was aware that her testimony at the defendant's trial would be a factor in the Court's decision. (R77, p. 68).

After Wells had testified at the first trial, the Court agreed to allow her to post \$750 cash bail and to be released from custody. (R69, p. 9). She was required to report to Justice Point and when she did so, she tested positive for cocaine and marijuana. (R69, p. 7). Wells told the staff that she wanted to contest that finding and they told her that there was a fee for that testing. Wells then asked to leave Justice Point to use an ATM to obtain the fee and the staff allowed her to leave. After she had left, she never returned to Justice Point, and went completely missing. (R69, pp. 7-8). On April 3, 2013, the Court issued a bench warrant for her. (R69, p. 8). She had

never been served with a subpoena to appear in court to testify at the second trial of this matter. (R69, p. 9).

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