RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-16-2017

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP2201-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LARRY L. GARNER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. BOROWSKI, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

GREGORY M. WEBER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018533

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Based on these facts—uncontradicted by Garner— Gholson-Wells was "unavailable despite good-faith efforts undertaken prior to trial to locate and present that witness." *Ohio v. Roberts*, 448 U.S. 56, 74 (1980), *abrogated on other grounds by Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 53–54. The prosecutor exercised due diligence and acted in good faith to locate her and produce her, justifying the circuit court's determination of unavailability.

Much of Garner's appellate argument consists of historical narrative regarding the events of this case, and restatements of assertions made in his postconviction motion. (Garner's Br. 15–23.) To the extent Garner considers the narrative and the restatements separate appellate arguments, they lack adequate development and citation to legal authority. This Court should reject them. *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992). The properly developed arguments do not bring the correctness of the circuit court's finding of unavailability into question.

Garner cites a 1934 Wisconsin Supreme Court case— *Philbrook v. State*, 216 Wis. 206, 256 N.W. 779 (1934)—for the proposition that "the factor of unavailability" was part of Wisconsin law long before the United States Supreme Court decided *Crawford*. (Garner's Br. 16.) The State agrees.

Garner then contends the circuit court had to use *Philbrook* as a template for its decision-making on the issue of unavailability. (Garner's Br. 16–17, 22.) The State disagrees. Garner quotes language from *Philbrook* suggesting the State had an affirmative duty to present "positive evidence of the absence of the witness from the state, or positive evidence that a thorough official search for the witness in the state has been made." (Garner's Br. 16 (citation omitted).) See *Philbrook*, 256 N.W.2d at 782 (quoting *Inda v. State*, 198 Wis. 557, 224 N.W. 733, 734 (1929)).

But the tests established in *Inda* and *Philbrook* are nothing more than the good-faith effort required in *Barber*, 390 U.S. at 724–25. *See, e.g., Zellmer*, 100 Wis. 2d at 143–44. The State has established the adequacy of the prosecutor's good faith effort in this case. The prosecutor had contacted Gholson-Wells through her attorney and expected her voluntary appearance. When that did not occur, he quickly obtained a bench warrant for her arrest, initiated police searches by increasing numbers of officers, and had them track down available leads. All of this is reasonable and indicative of a good-faith effort to locate a missing witness. The prosecutor did what he reasonably could to locate a witness who wanted to avoid being located.

Garner also asserts that *King* required the circuit court to conduct an evidentiary hearing on the question of what the State did to locate and produce Gholson-Wells, and required the State to have subpoenaed Gholson-Wells as a condition precedent to a finding of unavailability. (Garner's Br. 17 (citing *King*, 287 Wis. 2d 756, ¶¶ 13–15, 16–18).) He also assigns significance to the lack of an evidentiary hearing and a subpoena at other points in his brief. (Garner's Br. 21, 22.) The State has four responses.

First, Wisconsin Stat. § (Rule) 908.04(1)(e) does not require an evidentiary hearing. It is manifestly reasonable for a circuit court to rely on the proponent's representations regarding what has been done to secure the witness's presence. *See Commercial Union Ins. Co.*, 698 A.2d at 1185.

Second, the proponent's failure to subpoena a witness does not preclude a finding of unavailability. *Zellmer*, 100 Wis. 2d at 148–49; *Cross*, 565 U.S. at 71. Apart from his complaint that the prosecutor should have subpoenaed Gholson-Wells pretrial, Garner does not identify any other steps he believes the prosecutor should have taken to locate and produce her. Nor does he find fault with anything the prosecutor and police did do to locate and produce her. By his silence, he concedes that police competently conducted their search and explored all available leads. Third, Garner never objected in the circuit court to the manner in which the prosecutor provided information regarding what the State was doing to locate and produce Gholson-Wells. He never suggested or demanded an evidentiary hearing. The absence of objection violates Wisconsin's contemporaneous objection rule, and should result in waiver of review of this issue on appeal. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 901.03(1)(a); *McClelland v. State*, 84 Wis. 2d 145, 157–58, 267 N.W.2d 843 (1978).

Fourth, *King* does not require either a hearing or a subpoena as a condition precedent to a finding of unavailability, either as a matter of constitutional law or as a statutory requirement under the Wisconsin Rules of Evidence. In *King*, this Court noted the proponent's ability to subpoena the witness, but did not state it was a requirement. 287 Wis. 2d 756, ¶ 13. *King* also noted the proponent's responsibility to specify the facts relied upon to demonstrate diligence in locating and producing the witness. But it does not require an evidentiary hearing. *Id.* ¶ 17.

Garner next asserts that, had Gholson-Wells testified in person, he would have had multiple opportunities to impeach her testimony. (Garner's Br. 20–21, 23.) These are the claims the circuit court deemed speculative when the court denied Garner's postconviction motion. (R. 48:4–5.) Their speculative nature has not changed. We do not know how Gholson-Wells would have testified, had the State located and produced her. We do not know which possible avenues of impeachment Garner's trial counsel would have attempted to explore, and we do not know whether the circuit court would have permitted the inquiries. And even if the prosecutor had served her with a pretrial subpoena, we do not know if Gholson-Wells would have honored it. What we do know is that Gholson-Wells disappeared when she realized that she faced jail confinement as a result of violating her bail in her own criminal proceedings. (R. 69:3, 6-8.) It is far from certain that, even if she had been subpoenaed, she would have appeared at Garner's trial, knowing she stood an excellent chance of being jailed afterward.

In the context of ineffective assistance of counsel claims, reviewing courts unambiguously reject assertions of prejudice based on speculation as to what might have happened under different circumstances. See, e.g., State v. Erickson, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 773–74, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999). This appeal does not involve a claim of ineffective assistance, but rejecting speculative assertions is apt in this context as well. This Court should refuse to indulge Garner's speculation.

Garner also fails to explain the relevancy of the lost impeachment to the possibility of circuit court's determination of unavailability. Unavailability does not turn on what the opponent of the evidence could have done to impeach the testimony of the witness, had she appeared live at trial. "A declarant who is not in court despite the proponent's efforts to procure the declarant's presence by process or other reasonable means is unavailable." 7 Daniel D. Blinka, Wisconsin Practice Series: Wisconsin Evidence § 804.1 at 838 (3d ed. 2008).

The circuit court properly found Gholson-Wells unavailable for Confrontation Clause purposes.

II. Garner suffered no prejudice at his second trial from use of the amended information.

Wisconsin Stat. § 971.26 provides that "[n]o indictment, information, complaint or warrant shall be invalid, nor shall the trial, judgment or other proceedings be affected by reason of any defect or imperfection in matters of form which do not prejudice the defendant." "The purpose of a charging document is to inform the defendant of the acts he allegedly committed and to allow him to understand the offense charged so that he can prepare a defense." *Flakes*, 140 Wis. 2d at 419. "The key factor in determining whether an amended charging document prejudiced the defendant is whether the defendant had notice of the nature and cause of the accusations against him. There is no prejudice when the defendant has such notice." *Id*. (citation omitted).

When it denied Garner's postconviction motion, the circuit court concluded that Garner had notice of the nature and cause of the accusations against him at the time of the first trial. (R. 48:5.) It properly exercised its discretion in reaching that decision. The court concluded that the facts as alleged in the complaint gave him adequate notice: "He was in the same vehicle with the other co-defendants on the same night that the other two offenses were committed. The robbery of [TL] occurred in the time between the robbery of [JG] and the attempted armed robbery and shooting of [RC]. [Garner] was charged with party to a crime liability, and thus, notice was sufficient as to what occurred." (*Id.*)

If Garner understood the nature and cause of the charges at the time of the first trial, he understood them at the time of the second trial. Because the circuit court applied the proper legal principles to the relevant facts and reached a reasonable decision, this Court should affirm. *State v. Robinson*, 146 Wis. 2d 315, 330, 431 N.W.2d 165 (1988).

The fact that Garner faced two trials on the charges contained in the amended information leaves no doubt at all that, when he stood trial the second time, he had full knowledge of the nature and cause of the accusations again him.

Before the first trial, Garner's trial counsel acknowledged that both he and his client anticipated the charge the State added at that proceeding—the second armed robbery involving TL. The factual basis for the charge appeared in the probable cause portion of the criminal complaint. (R. 1:2–3; 53:3–4.) The charge came as no surprise at all to the defense: "Your Honor, it's correct. In fact, my client and I discussed that last time we met so that's not a surprise." (R. 53:4.)

Garner and his trial counsel then went on to see precisely how the State presented the case against him on all three charges, including the charge added to the information. He also saw how that charge withstood his motion to dismiss at the end of the State's case-in-chief at the first trial. (R. 67:4.) By the time of the second trial, Garner had as much notice of the nature and cause of the State's allegations—including the charge added to the information before the trial trial—as any defendant could reasonably hope to receive. And "[t]here is no prejudice when the defendant has such notice." *Flakes*, 140 Wis. 2d at 419.

Garner pays short shrift on appeal to the existence of prejudice at the second trial. He cites *Whitaker v. State*, 83 Wis. 2d 368, 265 N.W.2d 575 (1978), for the proposition that reviewing courts should consider a defendant's right to notice of the charges when determining whether amending the information will prejudice the defendant's rights. (Garner's Br. 25.) But he does not go on to discuss whether, at the time of the second trial, he had notice of the nature and causes of the charges against him, including the second armed robbery.

Instead, Garner dwells in the past. He complains that the circuit court should not have allowed the State to file the amended information at the first trial. (*Id.* at 24–28.) He complains that the court did not fully determine the possible prejudice he might suffer from the amendment at the first trial. (*Id.* at 25.) He complains that the only reason the prosecutor amended the information at the first trial was to prompt a guilty plea to the two original charges. (*Id.* at 25– 26.) And he complains that the court should have done more at the first trial to ascertain his understanding of the additional charge and formalize the amendment of the information. (*Id.* at 27.) These complaints share two fatal flaws.

First, they refer to what Garner claims happened at the first trial, not the second. And this Court has no work to do with respect to complaints about what happened at the first trial. A mistrial is the equivalent of no trial—a "nugatory proceeding." United States v. Whaley, 830 F.2d 1469, 1478 (7th Cir. 1987), abrogated on other grounds by United States v. Durrive, 902 F.2d 1221, 1226 (7th Cir. 1990). "[T]he trial after a mistrial is not a continuation of the mistrial—it stands alone." United States v. McAllister, 29 F.3d 1180, 1183 (7th Cir. 1994).

The issue before this Court is not what the circuit court might have done differently at the first trial with respect to the amendment of the information. The issue is whether Garner suffered prejudice at his second trial from the use of the amended information. And the key to determining prejudice is whether Garner received notice of the nature and cause of the accusations. He received full and complete notice. He sat through the State's case-in-chief at the first trial. That makes it virtually impossible for him to credibly claim that, at the second trial, he lacked adequate notice of the nature and cause of the allegations against him.

Second, Garner did not take his complaints and turn them into objections at the second trial. Following the mistrial and the beginning of the second trial, Garner had months in which to lodge any objections he had to proceeding on the information as amended at his first trial. But he filed no motion in the second proceeding challenging any of the charges specified in the information, nor did he object to them at any point during the second trial. The absence of objection is not surprising. He knew the nature and the cause of the allegations against him. That is what the law requires. *Flakes*, 140 Wis. 2d at 419.

III. The circuit court did not rely on inaccurate information in sentencing Garner.

"When a criminal defendant challenges the sentence imposed by the circuit court, the defendant has the burden to show some unreasonable or unjustifiable basis in the record for the sentence at issue." *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 418, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998). This Court starts with the presumption that the circuit court acted reasonably. *Id*.

Garner has a constitutionally protected due process right to a sentence based upon accurate information. *Tiepelman*, 291 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 9. But he must demonstrate that the disputed information was inaccurate and that the circuit court actually relied on the inaccurate information in imposing sentence. *Id.* ¶ 26. Because Garner bears the burden of proof of demonstrating both the presence of inaccurate information and actual reliance, this Court need not reach both issues if Garner fails to prove one or the other.

Mere disagreement between the sentencing court and the defendant regarding the probative value of information—or the credibility of the witness who provides it—does not render the information inaccurate for purposes of due process. "It is not within the province of this court or any appellate court to choose not to accept an inference drawn by a factfinder when the inference drawn is a reasonable one." *State v. Friday*, 147 Wis. 2d 359, 370–71, 434 N.W.2d 85 (1989). And "[t]he trial judge, when acting as the factfinder, is the ultimate arbiter of the credibility of a witness." In re Sensenbrenner, 89 Wis. 2d 677, 701, 278 N.W.2d 887 (1979) (citation omitted). The assessment of evidence, the weighing of relative credibility, and the drawing of factual conclusions from testimony all lie at the heart of a circuit court's discretionary sentencing decision. See State v. Harris, 119 Wis. 2d 612, 623, 350 N.W.2d 633 (1984). A defendant cannot convert those assessments, credibility determinations, and factual conclusions into constitutionally inaccurate information simply by saying, "I see things differently."

We have no inaccurate information here. Both John Eggars and Gholson-Wells testified that Garner fired the gunshot that killed RC, the victim of the felony murder. (R. 74:41, 42, 44; 76:60, 62, 87–88.) They testified to a plausible scenario, grounded in observations they made at the time of the crime. Nothing about their testimony—or the circuit court's conclusion that Garner was the shooter-is incredible as a matter of law. Their testimony and the court's conclusion do not conflict "with nature or the fully established facts, or unless the testimony supporting and essential to the verdict is inherently and patently incredible." State v. Sharp, 180 Wis. 2d 640, 659, 511 N.W.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1993). Garner would have preferred that the court reject their testimony and reach a different conclusion about who fired the fatal shot. But this Court does not ask whether the court might have exercised its discretion differently. See State v. Prineas, 2009 WI App 28, ¶ 34, 316 Wis. 2d 414, 766 N.W.2d 206. Nothing prevented the court from concluding, on the strength of the evidence before it that Garner fired the fatal shot.

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